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Core Statements

A peaceful, cohesive, united and
integrated Kenyan society

Our Mission
To facilitate the elimination of all
forms of ethnic discrimination and
proactively promote tolerance
understanding, acceptance of
diversity, peaceful coexistence
and unity

Core Values
1. Professionalism
We are committed to serving our clients with utmost
professionalism

2. Affirmative action for the marginalized
and the minorities
We endeavor to undertake affirmative action for the
marginalized and the minorities

3. Respect for diversity and inclusivity
We respect diversity and ensure inclusion in our various engagements

4. Integrity
We provide our services with utmost integrity
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ABBREVIATIONS
ADR

Alternative Dispute Resolution

ACP

Active Citizens programme

CAJ

Commission and Administrative Justice

CBOs

Community Based Organisations

CEC

County Executive Committees

CGA

County Government Acts

CMR

County Minority Register

CPSB

County Public Service Boards

CRA

Commission Revenue Allocation

CSOs

Civil Society Organizations

DPCs

District Peace Committees

DPP

Director of Public Prosecutions

EACC

Ethics and Anti-Corruption Commission

FBOs

Faith Based Organisations

GPF

Global Peace Foundation

IDPs

Internally Displaced Persons

IEC

Information, Education and Communication

IJR

Institute of Justice and Reconciliation (IJR)

IPCRM

Integrated Public Complaints Referral Mechanism

KESSHA

Kenya Secondary Schools Heads Association

KICD

Kenya Institute of Curriculum Development

KNCHR

Kenya National Commission on Human Rights

KRA

Key Result Area

KRC

Kenya Red Cross

KSA

Kenya Scouts Association

M&E

Monitoring and Evaluation

MoEST

Ministry of Education, Science and Technology

NACCSC

National Anti-corruption Campaign Steering Committee

NCI Act

National Cohesion and Integration Act, no.12 of 2008

NCIC

National Cohesion and Integration Commission

NGOs

Non-Governmental Organisations

NPSC

National Police Service Commission

NSC

National Steering Committee on Peacebuilding and
Conflict Management

PEV

Post Elections Violence

PFM

Public Finance Management

SIDA

Swedish International Development Agency

TI

Transparency International

ToTs

Training of Trainers

UNDP

United Nations Development Programme

USAID

United States Agency for International Development
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

K

enya experienced relative peace across the country in the period under review, despite,
recurrence of conflict and violence among several pastoralist communities. For NCIC
2014 was yet another year of outstanding performance. This remarkably improved
performance is evidence to the great potential that the Commission has and emphatically
underscores continued facilitation and promotion of a Kenyan society whose values are
harmonious and non-discriminatory for peaceful co-existence and integration.
First, the Commission, established linkages with partners, stakeholders and like-minded
institutions building synergy and promoting peaceful coexistence entrenching peace and
unity as a practice among Kenyans. NCIC made significant contributions to infuse cohesion
and integration principles into the review and formulation of bills and policies. Successful
investigations of complaints on hate speech and ethnic contempt enabled the Commission to
secure prosecution of high-level personalities. The Commission has successfully investigated
and recommended to the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions (ODPP) the prosecution
of 16 individuals for the offences of hate speech and ethnic contempt. While only three
convictions have been secured, the investigations in themselves serve as a deterrent to hate
speech related offences.
Secondly, the Commission continued to inform discourse and influence policy through research
findings shaping the cohesion and integration agenda in public institutions. For instance,
Kenya Institute of Curriculum Development (KICD) reviewed the Education curriculum to
include national values. The Commission’s Social Cohesion Index on the other hand, has
enabled Counties to review their cohesion status discussing issues related to peace and
cohesion. The Commission reinforced entrenchment of national values and peace messaging
through the education sector by promoting a national culture on shared national values and
identity. The Commission promoted tolerance and respect for diversity as well as inculcating
and promoting national values in Kenya’s children and the youth through the establishment
of Amani clubs in schools.
Thirdly, NCIC prevented, averted, and resolved a number of inter-community and clan
conflicts over competition for natural resources, county resources and opportunities, as well
as politically motivated violence. To this end, the Commission resolved conflicts in Samburu,
Mandera, and Marsabit counties; conflicts between communities from Baringo and Turkana
counties; Kakamega and Nandi Counties; Isiolo and Meru Counties; among others as detailed
in this report. Further, the Commission’s interventions averted potential conflicts between;
Bomet and Narok; Migori and Narok Counties as well as conflicts between Kisii and Maasai
in Transmara. Seven community peace pacts were signed between the different communities.
While these activities have sustained the momentum created by support from various
stakeholders and staff’s hard work, continued efforts are necessary to respond to the high
expectations related to the Commissions mandate.
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1.1. Statement from the Chairman

..the guns
are quiet in
Mandera,
Baringo and
Samburu...
Hon. K.F.X Ole Kaparo, EGH, SS
Chairman NCIC

O

n behalf of the Commissioners of the National Cohesion and Integration Commission, it
is my pleasure to present the Annual Report and Financial Statement for the National
Cohesion and Integration Commission for the year ended 30th June 2015.

NCIC was established in 2008, after the unfortunate 2007 PEV, under the NCI Act of 2008.
The NCI Act 2008 was enacted against a backdrop of a fast-declining national integration and
cohesiveness coupled with the post-election violence that almost crippled the Country during the
2007/2008 general elections. NCIC was therefore set- up to facilitate elimination of all forms
of ethnic discrimination and proactively promote tolerance, understanding, and acceptance of
diversity, peaceful coexistence and unity.
Eight years down the road, I am happy to report that the Commission has not only embraced its
mandate fully, but has also remained steadfast as the principal instrument of government in the
implementation of Kenya’s Cohesion and Integration agenda.
Soon after its establishment, NCIC took the first few years of its infancy to set up institutional
structures and framework to support the organization’s development. The last five years,
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subsequently, have been instrumental in helping to leverage stakeholder support and launch
targeted programmes to actualize NCIC’s mandate.
A key highlight during this period which also marks two years of my tenure as Chairperson, has
been the Commission’s focused efforts on overseeing consultation with all different organizations
both private and public to ensure that the financial, technological, physical and human resources
available to the organization are used efficiently to achieve the results stated in the Commission’s
strategic plan.
During my tenure as the Chairman, the Commission, through the Research and Policy Committee
embarked on undertaking research and studies making recommendations to the Government on
issues relating to ethnic affairs. We have generated new ideas enriching knowledge base that
supports a policy agenda geared towards the achievement of sustainable peace and co-existence
among Kenyans. To this end, the Commission increased the bar of accountability in regard to
inclusivity within the county public service by establishing the status of ethnic representation of
county employees and instituting a framework for annual monitoring.
One of the most successful initiatives is the Ethnic and Diversity Audit study of County Governments
that is pivotal in the implementation of NCI Act and national cohesion and integration in general.
The main objective of the study was to establish the ethnic composition of employees of the county
public service between June 2014 and May 2015.
During the year, my Commission rolled out several programes to address pertinent national peace
and reconciliations matters. I am pleased to report that we have been able to forestall conflict in
a number of areas through mediation. The guns are quiet in Mandera, Baringo, Samburu and a
number of other counties. Although the Security organs played their roles, large scale operation
which usually leave a lot of acrimony and claims of human rights abuses were avoided due to the
alternative dispute resolution avenues that NCIC availed.
Under NCI Act 2008, we are mandated to work with other lead government agencies including
law enforcing agencies to implement Cohesion and Integration regulations, particularly in the
enforcement. To this end, NCIC has trained over 300 police officers across the country and is
now embarking on a robust programme to strengthen our operations on the grassroot to involve
Kenyans at every level. Through Amani clubs NCIC has inculcated values, skills and attitudes
among students to promote diversity and peaceful coexistence.
NCIC has also spearheaded the development of a framework and checklist for incorporating
national cohesion and integration principles into Kenya’s laws and policies. The framework is a
crucial tool in the incorporation of the national cohesion and integration principles that gives effect
to the non-discrimination and equality requirements of the Constitution of Kenya 2010 and the
National Cohesion and Integration Act, 2008.
NCIC will endeavour to align itself with the new Constitutional dispensation to serve Kenyans at
the National and County levels. Finally, on behalf of NCIC Commissioners and staff, I express
my sincere gratitude to the Government of Kenya, Ministry of Interior, Coordination and National
Government, Donors, Media and other stakeholders for their continued support. This has gone a
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long way towards building a solid institution that is responsive to its mandates and stakeholders’
expectations.

HON. FRANCIS XAVIER OLE KAPARO, EGH, SS
CHAIRMAN
NATIONAL COHESION AND INTEGRATION COMMISSION.
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1.2. Who Governs Us

H

on. Francis Ole Kaparo was inaugurated as the Commission Chairman by President
Uhuru Kenyatta on September 11th 2014 alongside seven other commissioners to lead
the National Cohesion and Integration Commission of Kenya.
Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo is a lawyer by profession with vast experience in Kenya’s political
and development discourse. He holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Nairobi
and a post graduate Diploma in Laws from Kenya School of Law. Hon. Kaparo was admitted
to the roll of Advocates as an Advocate of the High Court of Kenya since 1997
Hon. Kaparo is the longest ever serving Speaker of the National Assembly of Kenya, having
served from1993-2008. Before then, he previously served as Minister for Labour 1990-1991,
Minister for Industry 1991-1993, Assistant Minister for National Guidance and Political
Affairs 1988-1989, Assistant minister for Supplies and Marketing 1989-1990. He was also
a Member of Parliament for Laikipia east in 1988-1992.

Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo has served in various capacities as well in the government of
Kenya and Africa as a whole. This includes chairman to the Commonwealth Parliamentary
Association 1995-1997 , Chairman, Steering committee of Speakers’ conference – Africa
Region 1997-1999, Chairman, Steering committee of Speakers’ conference of the CPA
international 2004-2006 , Member of the African Union Observer Mission to the Zimbabwe
Election and President of the Inter Parliamentary Union General Assembly in 2006. Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo is the current Chief
Scout of the Kenya Scouts Association.
Before joining the Commission, Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo was the immediate Chairman to the National Environmental Management
Authority and The United Republican Party

Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo,
Commission Chairman

C

ommissioner Irene N. Wanyoike holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of
Nairobi and a post graduate Diploma in Laws from Kenya School of Law. Commissioner
Irene is an Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) Practitioner with emphasis in Mediation.
She is a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (CIArb) in both Kenya and London
Branches. Currently she is the Honorary treasurer and Council member of CIArb. Irene
Wanyoike has also been a private Consultant, working closely with FIDA in Family Mediation
and the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators.

Irene N. Wanyoike
Commissioner

Irene Wanyoike has a wide knowledge in the field of Mediation and Arbitration, Public
Sector Reforms, Governance, Human Rights, and is very passionate on issues of Women
and Youth Empowerment. She is a Civic Educator in the National Steering Committee of the
Kenya National Integrated Civic Education (K-Nice) which had been under the then Ministry
of Justice and Constitutional Affairs. She is also in the Panel of Mediators at the newly
established Strathmore Dispute Resolution Centre at Strathmore University Campus. Irene
Wanyoike is the Convenor of the Association of Professional Societies in East Africa’s (APSEA)
Constitutional Implementation and Oversight Committee and a member of Professional
Integrity and Ethics Committee of APSEA.

Commissioner Irene N. Wanyoike serves in various Professional Bodies in different positions.
She is the Chairperson of the Centre for Alternative Dispute Resolution (CADR), and a Senior 1st Vice Chairperson of the Association
of Professional Societies in East Africa (APSEA). She is the Honourary Treasurer of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (CIArb), and
a Board Member of the Kenya Private Sector Alliance (KEPSA). Irene also serves in several committees and secondary school boards
and offers probono services on Family Mediation and Reconciliation

C

ommissioner Belinda holds a Masters in Communication Studies and a Master
of Diplomacy both from the University of Nairobi. She is Policy, Advocacy and
Communications Specialist with 13 years’ experience in democracy, governance, health
and human rights work. She has vast experience in research, policy analysis and evidence
based advocacy, documentation of human rights violations, civic education, reporting and
outreach, complaints handling and redress, behavior change communications and knowledge
management, partnership building and resource mobilization.

Belinda Ochiel,
Commissioner
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Comm. Belinda Akoth is a seasoned policy, advocacy, and communications expert with
regional and international experience in peace building, democracy, governance, and human
rights. She was the Director of Policy, Advocacy, and Communications at the Commission on
Administrative Justice (Office of the Ombudsman) Kenya with the Responsibility of Designing,
Implementing, Monitoring and Evaluating Advocacy and Communications Programmes
to Promote Administrative Justice, Good Governance and Enhance Realization of Human
Rights. Previously, she spearheaded national peace initiatives and was instrumental in the
investigations and documentation of 2007/2008 post-election violence in Kenya
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W

ith a Master of Science in Project Planning and Management from the University of
Bradford, Comm. Adan Abdi Mohamed previously undertook County Coordination
with regard to drought management and food security through the operation of a County
Drought Early Warning System, coordination and participation in County and national
food security assessment and surveys and regular community information feedback. He
earlier managed the Arid Lands Resource Management Project as a Drought Management
Coordinator.
Comm. Adan has 23 years of experience, both as an educationist and a development
worker under various capacities. He also handled and coordinated drought mitigation
response activities; handled and facilitated Conflict dialogues and mitigations, coordinated
development agencies both government departments, civil societies, NGOs, INGOs and UN
Agencies at County level.

Aden Abdi Mohammed
Commissioner

He has skills working in hardship, drought and conflict prone areas, has the capacity
to respond to emergency situations, in the areas of drought and conflict mitigation and
relief operations, and has knowledge of working with communities in micro-development
projects. Comm. Aden has adequate skills in the design, formulation and management
of development projects, has knowledge of coordinating government, donors, NGOs, Civil
society and international Agencies coupled with abundant administrative and supervisory
skills

C

ommissioner Dr. Roba D. Sharamo has over 16 years of experience in international
development, diplomacy and conflict analysis and resolution where he worked in senior
management positions with the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in Kenya,
Government of Kenya, non-governmental organizations and a leading think-tank, Institute
for Security Studies in Addis Ababa and Nairobi, among other international institutions.
Most recently, he worked for UNDP as the Team Leader for Peace Building and Conflict
Prevention Unit. He received his Doctorate in Conflict Analysis and Resolution from George
Mason University, United States of America (USA) in 2012. His doctoral dissertation is
entitled, “Predatory Politics and Struggles of Peacemaking in Somalia,” at George Mason
University, Arlington, Virginia, US.

Dr. Roba has a Masters degree in Sustainable International Development from Brandeis
University, Boston, USA, 2002 and a Bachelor of Science from Kenyatta University,
Nairobi, Kenya, 1998. He has lectured and made presentations at numerous regional and
international conferences and published key monographs and scholarly articles on peace
and security in Africa. He also co-edited two monographs: with Berouk Mesfin entitled
Dr. Roba D. Sharamo
Regional Security in Post-Cold War Horn of Africa (April 2011); and The State of Human
Commissioner
Security in Africa (co-edited with C. Ayangafac) in April 2012, respectively. He is committed
to the institutionalization of the inter-related agendas of peace, cohesion and integration in
Kenya. His areas of specialization include conflict analysis and resolution, political economy, peacebuilding, cohesion, community
security, mediation and negotiation. Dr. Roba Sharamo was appointed as a Commissioner of the National Cohesion and Integration
Commission (NCIC) by, His Excellency President Uhuru Kenyatta on 12th August 2014

C

ommissioner Dr. Joseph Wamocha Nasongo is holder of PhD degree in Conflict
Resolution and Management of Masinde Muliro University of Science and Technology,
Master’s degree in Philosophy of Education and Bachelor’s degree in Education arts of
Kenyatta University. His PhD thesis was titled ‘An analysis of feminist epistemology: Logical
pedagogical implications to education in Kenya’. He joins the Commission from the world
of academia with twenty four years’ experience as an educationist, seven of which he
taught in secondary schools, six years at Maseno University and eleven years at Masinde
Muliro University of Science and Technology. He has vast experience in teaching, research
and publications. His research interests include: Peace studies, conflict resolution and
management, Education, feminism, and philosophy. He has attended and presented papers
at conferences in local as well as international conferences.

Dr. Joseph W. Nasongo is also a member of professional associations namely: Association of
Disaster Management and Conflict Resolution of Kenya (ADMCRK), Organization of Social
Science Research in Eastern Africa (OSSREA) and Association of Third World Studies.
He has actively participated in community development through engagement in civic
Dr. Joseph Wamocha Nasongo
education, review of peace building training manual, research on impact of violent conflicts
Commissioner
on education and member of boards of management of schools and sub county district
education board. His worldview is guided by the philosophy that the human person has
a rich endowment of potential that requires conducive environment to flourish. Conducive
environmental factors include: peace, access to basic needs, quality education, respect for human dignity and freedom to exercise
talents in enhancing individual and societal development
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C

ommissioner Prof. Gitile Joseph Naituli holds a PhD degree in Business Management from
Egerton University, a Masters in Business Administration (MBA) degree in Management and
a Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree in Business Administration and Government from MIU-IOWA,
USA. His PhD Thesis was entitled: “Constraints on Growth of Micro and Small-Scale Women
Enterprises in North and Central Meru, Kenya”. Prof. Naituli has over 20 years’ experience
in Business Management and Leadership gained from extensive consulting, facilitation,
teaching and research. Before his appointment as a Commissioner with the National
Cohesion and Integration Commission, Prof. Naituli served as the Acting Principal and Deputy
Principal (Finance and Administration) and Associate Professor, Business Management and
Leadership at Multimedia University of Kenya. He is also a visiting Professor of Management
at the University of Virginia, USA and sits on the Advisory Board of Environic Foundation
International (EFI) USA, as well as the National Trustee Intervarsity Environmental network
(IVEN). Prof. Gitile Naituli has conducted research in several fields.
These include Education for Sustainable Development and its application to Business
Systems, Small to Medium Enterprises and the implication for sustainable development, Small
Business Development and Management, Gender Issues in Small Business Management and
Prof. Gitile Joseph Naituli
Development and the Implication for Poverty Alleviation Efforts, Climate Change Adaptation
Commissioner
and Mitigation, Gender Issues in Organizational Development and Management, Strategic
Management and its implications for Organizational Re-engineering, Transformational
Leadership and its implication for development and Conflict Resolution and Mitigation.
Prof. Naituli is the author of more than 25 papers on Leadership and Management that have been published in professional journals
or presented at various professional international conferences. He has also authored and co-authored more than 8 books in business
Management.
Prof. Naituli is a Technical Specialist with the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), Mainstreaming Environment for
Sustainability in African Universities (MESA). He has also been helping African Universities to develop projects on adaptation to
climate change and also providing technical assistance to the concerned Universities, besides organizing, planning and participating
in strategic meetings and Seminars/workshops. Prof. Naituli has been a Consultant for UNESCO Windholk Cluster Office to Angola,
Lesotho, Namibia, South Africa and Swaziland. In 2008, Prof. Naituli was appointed as the co-ordinator for the International Training
Programme in Education for Sustainable Development in Higher Education in African Universities by Ramboll Natura AB and SIDA
of Sweden. He chaired the University of Gondar (Ethiopia) Senate Committee that helped develop a curriculum based on the United
Nations guidelines on Education for Sustainable Development (ESD), which used ESD tool kit as a resource

C

ommissioner Hon. Morris M. Dzoro, EGH has over 15 years working experience and
exposure in leadership and development at both local and international level. He has been
keen in empowering communities to determine their own future and realize their full potential
and worth by helping them demonstrate their relationship and live at peace with each other
and their environment in order to meet their own long-term needs and livelihood with the main
aim of transforming their lives.
Hon. Morris Dzoro served as a Cabinet Minister in the Ministry of Tourism and Wildlife from
2003 to 2007; an Assistant Minister for Public Service between 2002 and 2003; and a Member
of Parliament from 2002 to 2007. Prior to that, he worked as the Programme Manager for the
World Vision – Kenya, in different counties and regions. He has also worked as a Part-Time
Lecturer at both the University of Nairobi and Daystar University.
Hon. Morris Dzoro is currently pursuing a PhD degree course on Tourism Management at the
Moi University. He holds a Masters of Arts (MA) Degree in Theology and Development from
Hon. Morris M. Dzoro, EGH
the University of Leads, UK; a Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree in Community Development from
Mesiah College, USA; and a Diploma in Communication Arts from the Daystar University,
Commissioner
Kenya. Hon. Dzoro has attended training in different fields such as Strategic Planning and
Management at CORAT; Proposal Writing and Health Management at AMREF; Cross Cultural
and Peace Keeping at the London Institute and Advanced Leadership Course from Singapore. He has also attended several seminars
and conferences, including the World Tourism Organization in Malaysia; Public Service Conference in South Africa and International
Urban Ministry in Chicago, USA. Hon.
Dzoro brings to the Commission valuable knowledge and experience in leadership, peace building and conflict resolution; partnerships
and relationships across sectors (networking and collaboration)

M

r. Hassan Mohamed is the Commission Secretary since June 2010. He holds an MA
in Economic and Social Studies (Development Administration and Management) from
University of Manchester UK, Post Graduate Diploma in Public Administration and Management
from Glasgow Caledonian University, UK; and Diploma in Range Management from Egerton
University.
Mr. Hassan is a career Civil Servant who has served in various Government Ministries
culminating in his promotion to the rank of Senior Deputy Secretary. He was awarded the
Order of the Grand Warrior of Kenya in 2009 for Peace building efforts whilst serving as the
Coordinator of the National Steering Committee for Peace Building and Conflict Management
in the Office of the President. Mr. Hassan also received exposure in international peace while
he was on secondment as a Special Envoy of IGAD to the Sudan Peace Process in 2009 - 2010.
He has extensive knowledge in Government Financial Management, having served as a Budget
Supply Officer in the Ministry of Finance in 1997 – 2006
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NCIC facilitates dialogue between
conflicting communities.
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1.3. Statement from the Commission’s Secretary

...the

Commission has

.continued to implement
the Strategic Plan
during the year and has
successfully achieved most
of the key deliverables...

Mr. Hassan Mohamed, OGW.
Commission Secretary

N

ational cohesion and integration has been elusive in Kenya since independence and perhaps
even before. This divisions in the country led to serious violence in 2008, when the election
outcome was given as the reason for ethnic based violence. However, with concerted efforts from
different stakeholders, the country is in the right trajectory towards healing and reconciliation.
During the financial year under review, NCIC implemented several programes to ensure a
peaceful, cohesive, united and integrated Kenyan society. Among our key achievements during
the period is our steadfastness in developing and enforcing national cohesion and integration
policies, building partnerships aimed at promoting public awareness and education on cohesion
and integration issues; ethnic and sectarian conflict resolution, mitigating and transformation,
enforcing the provisions of the NCI Act 2008, and especially, on hate speech and spearheading
the implementation of the principles for recruitment to ensure inclusiveness and diversity at the
county level. In order to enforce the NCI Act 2008, the Commission has trained over 300 police
officers to monitor hate speech. This effort will ensure that Kenyans continue to enjoy their right
to a peaceful united and harmonious nation.
Further,the Commission made major strides in enhancing public education and awareness of
cohesion and integration. The Commission developed partnership with major stakeholders to
encourage peaceful coexistence among the diverse cultures and communities in Kenya at the
same time cultivating national values. One of our flagship activities under this programe is the
establishment of Amani clubs in Kenyan schools. Consequently, the Commission has been working
closely with schools to facilitate the establishment of the clubs. So far, the Commission has reached
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eight counties and trained over 540 teachers and stakeholders in education sector.
I am glad to note that the Commission undertook a participatory and consultative process in the
development of the Strategic Plan. This entailed among others, a review of the business environment,
key policies and laws and regulations. The Commission has continued to implement the Strategic

Plan during the year and has successfully achieved most of the key deliverables. The key highlights
are detailed in the report.
Human capital is a key pillar to the successful execution of the Commission’s Strategic Plan. The
input of members of staff is the most critical element guaranteeing the attainment of targets set in
the Performance Contracts and the Strategic Plan. The staff of the Commission have received high
quality training both locally and overseas through an elaborate training plan for all staff. There
exists a performance management system that sets key performance benchmarks.
I wish to thank the Commissioners, Management and Staff of the National Cohesion and Integration
Commission for their continued support and dedication, without which, our ambitious objectives
could not have been achieved. I also extend our gratitude to the Government of Kenya, the Ministry
of Interior and National Security, the National Treasury and the Donor fraternity for their cooperation and support.
I also acknowledge the support of the general public and Media both electronic and print, for
always standing with us and promoting our brand in their own unique and special way. Finally,
I would like to thank all stakeholders, and assure them of our strong commitment to deliver a
peaceful, united and cohesive and integrated Kenyan society.

MR. HASSAN MOHAMED, OGW.
COMMISSION SECRETARY
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1.4. Who leads us

Mr. Hassan Mohamed
Commission Secretary

M

r. Hassan Mohamed has been the
Commission Secretary since June
2010. He holds an MA in Economic and
Social Studies (Development Administration
and Management) from University of
Manchester UK, Post Graduate Diploma
in Public Administration and Management
from Glasgow Caledonian University, UK;
and Diploma in Range Management from
Egerton University. He is a seasoned career
Civil Servant with over 35 years experience
in
various
Government
Ministries
culminating in his promotion to the rank
of Senior Deputy Secretary. Mr. Hassan
also served in international peace while on
secondment as a Special Envoy of IGAD to
Sudan Peace Process in 2009 - 2010. He
has extensive knowledge in Government
Financial Management

Dr. Benjamin Kituku

D

r. Benjamin Kituku is the Director
Finance, HR and Administration, the
administrative arm of the Commission
and is composed of the following divisions:
Finance and Accounts, Human Resource,
Administration, Supplies Management and
ICT.
He is a Certified Public Accountant of Kenya
(CPA-K) and a member of ICPAK. He holds a
Master’s in Business Administration (MBA)
Finance and Strategic Management from
University of Nairobi and a BVMPH from the
same University

Mr. Kyalo Mwengi

M

r. Kyalo Mwengi is the Assistant
Director
Complaints,
Legal
and
Enforcement department, which receives
and investigates complaints of ethnic
and racial discrimination and makes
recommendations to the parliament and any
other relevant government department or
authority.
He is an advocate of the high court of Kenya
and a member of the Law Society of Kenya.
He holds a Bachelors degree in Social
Legislation (BSL), Bachelors in Laws (LLB)
from Dr. Babasahab Ambadkar Marathwada
University, India and a Diploma in Law from
the Kenya School of Law
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Dr. Sellah King’oro

D

r. Sellah King’oro is the Assistant
Director of Research, Policy and
Planning at the National Cohesion and
Integration Commission. This department
collects,
collates
and
synthesizes
information on various issues of interest to
the Commission and is also key in policy
development planning and implementation.
She holds a PhD in Peace and Conflict
Studies from Kisii University, a Master of
International Studies of the University of
Nairobi and Bachelor of Arts in Education
from Maseno University, a Postgraduate
Diploma in Democracy and Peace from
Bradford University and she is also a Rotary
Peace Fellow with a Diploma in Peace and
Conflict Studiesf from Chulalongkorn
University, Thailand

Mr. Liban Guyo

M

r. Liban Guyo is the Assistant Director;
Reconciliation and Integration at
the National Cohesion and Integration
Commission. This department is involved
in the promotion and sustenance of the
national peace and reconciliation agenda.
He holds a Master’s Degree in Governance
and Development from Sussex University
and a BA in International Relations from
United States International UniversityAfrica Nairobi, Kenya
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Mr. Killian Nyambu Machila

M

r. Kilian Nyambu is the Assistant
Director, Civic Education and Advocacy
at the National Cohesion and Integration
Commission. The department spearheads
initiatives aimed at policy influence and
advocacy, public education and awareness,
capacity development and outreach.

He holds a Master of Education (M.Ed) in
Educational Administration and Planning
as well as Bachelor of Education (Arts)
degree from the University of Nairobi. He has
multiple certificates in various management
programmes
from
different
training
institutions including the Kenya Institute of
Administration
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SECTION TWO: Who we are

2.1. Establishment of NCIC
2.2. What we do
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2.1. Establishment of NCIC

T

he National Cohesion and Integration Commission is a statutory body established by the
National Cohesion Integration Act, No 12 of 2008 (NCI Act, 2008) enacted after the 2007 Post
Election Violence (PEV). The Commission was formed under Agenda 4 that recognized long term
issues with regard to poverty, inequitable distribution of resources and perception of historical
injustices and exclusion of segements of the Kenyan society were among causes of prevailing
social tensions, instability and cycle to violence recurrent in electoral processes in Kenya. The
Commission’s policies are driven by Commissioners appointed under section 17 of NCI Act.

12
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2.2. What we do
Principal Activity

A

s stipulated in the National Cohesion Integration Act of 2008, the object and purpose for which
the Commission was established is to: Build national identity and values, mitigate ethnopolitical competition and ethnically motivated violence, eliminate discrimination on ethnic, racial
and religious basis, promote national reconciliation and healing.

Specific Functions
The object and purpose for which the Commission is established as espoused in the National
Cohesion and Integration Act No.12 of 2008, is to facilitate and promote equality of opportunity,
good relations, harmony and peaceful coexistence between persons of different ethnic and racial
communities of Kenya, and to advise the Government on all aspects thereof. Without prejudice the
Commission shall:
a.

Promote the elimination of all forms of discrimination on the basis of ethnicity or race;

b.

Discourage persons, institutions, political parties and associations from advocating or
promoting discrimination or discriminatory practices on the ground of ethnicity or race;

c.

Promote tolerance, understanding and acceptance of diversity in all aspects of national life
and encourage full participation by all ethnic communities in the social, economic, cultural
and political life of other communities;

d.

Plan, supervise, co-ordinate and promote educational and training programmes to create public
awareness, support and advancement of peace and harmony among ethnic communities and
racial groups;

e.

Promote respect for religious, cultural, linguistic and other forms of diversity in a plural
society;

f.

Promote equal access and enjoyment by persons of all ethnic communities and racial groups
to public or other services and facilities provided by the Government;

g.

Promote arbitration, conciliation, mediation and similar forms of dispute resolution
mechanisms in order to secure and enhance ethnic and racial harmony and peace;

h.

Investigate complaints of ethnic or racial discrimination and make recommendations to the
Attorney-General, the Human Rights Commission or any other relevant authority on the
remedial measures to be taken where such complaints are valid;

i.

Investigate on its own accord or on request from any institution, office, or person any issue
affecting ethnic and racial relations;

j.

Identify and analyze factors inhibiting the attainment of harmonious relations between
ethnic communities, particularly barriers to the participation of any ethnic community in
social, economic, commercial, financial, cultural and political endeavors, and recommend to
the Government and any other relevant public or private body how these factors should be
overcome;
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k.

Determine strategic priorities in all the socio-economic, political and development policies of
the Government impacting on ethnic relations and advise on their implementation;

l.

Recommend to the Government criteria for deciding whether any public office or officer has
committed acts of discrimination on the ground of ethnicity or race;

m. Monitor and review all legislation and all administrative acts relating to or having implications
for ethnic or race relations and equal opportunities and, from time to time, prepare and submit
to the Government proposals for revision of such legislation and administrative acts;

14

n.

Initiate, lobby for and advocate for policy, legal or administrative reforms on issues affecting
ethnic relations;

o.

Monitor and make recommendations to the Government and other relevant public and private
sector bodies on factors inhibiting the development of harmonious relations between ethnic
groups and on barriers to the participation of all ethnic groups in the social, economic,
commercial, financial, cultural and political life of the people;
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p.

Undertake research and studies and make recommendations to the Government on any issue
relating to ethnic affairs including whether ethnic relations are improving;

q.

Make recommendations on penalties to be imposed on any person for any breach of the
provisions of the Constitution or of any law dealing with ethnicity;

r.

Monitor and report to the National Assembly the status and success of implementation of its
recommendations;

s.

Issue notices directing persons or institutions involved in actions or conduct amounting to
violations of human rights on the basis of ethnicity or race to stop such actions or conduct
within a given period and;

t.

Do all other acts and things as may be necessary to facilitate the efficient discharge of its
functions.

In the discharge of its functions under this Act, the Commission:
i.

Shall not be subject to the direction or control of any other person or authority.

ii.

Shall publish the names of persons or institutions whose words or conduct may undermine
or have undermined or contributed towards undermining good ethnic relations, or who are
involved in ethnic discrimination or the propagation of ethnic hate.

iii. May enter into association with such other bodies or organizations within or outside Kenya
as it may consider desirable or appropriate, and in furtherance of the purpose for which the
Commission is established.
iv.

The Commission shall have power to summon witnesses and to call for the production of
books, plans and other documents and to examine witnesses and parties on oath.

Principles and Values of NCIC
NCIC’s cardinal principle is zero tolerance to discrimination.
The
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.

core values are:
Independent from the Executive, Judiciary and Legislature;
Objectivity in dealing with issues around discrimination;
High levels of integrity within the Commission;
Open door policy to all and sundry;
Affirmative action around the vulnerable;
Inclusivity of all forms of diversity;
High degree of accountability and transparency and;
Tolerance to varied opinions, beliefs and aspirations.
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The Commission through the Peace Building and
Reconciliation department holds peace dialogue
meetings with conflicting communities.
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SECTION THREE: Our Performance
3.0.

Introduction

K

enya’s cohesion and integration has been elusive since indepence. Thus in the spirit of NCI act
2008 the Commission undertook activities and programmes geared towards the achievments
of its six Key Results Areas (KRAs) as discussed below.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Increased knowledge and transformational practise on national reconciliation, cohesion
and integration
Strengthening good governance and implementaion of the Constitution through emphasis
on equitable access to public resources
Promoting research and monitoring of the status and trends of national peace and
stability and advising the relevant state agencies.
Faciliatating of laws, policies and practices that counter ethnic, racial and religious
tensions.
Organizational growth and development.

3.1 Increased Knowledge and Transformational Practice on National
Reconciliation, Cohesion and Integration
During the period under review, the Commission supported educational and training programmes
that increased public awareness towards the advancement of peace and harmony among ethnic
communities. Consequently, strategic partnerships were enhanced with the focus to nurture
values and practices for diversity and national identity. The following are the key achievements
realised under this result area.

a. Establishment of Amani clubs in Institutions of Learning:

NCIC undertook
sensitization forums for teachers and education stakeholders to promote the establishment of
Amani clubs. The Clubs are aimed at inculcating appropriate values, skills and attitudes among
students to promote diversity and peaceful coexistence. To this end, NCIC conducted eight forums
in Isiolo, Kitui, Uasin Gishu, Nakuru, Kwale, Mombasa, Migori and Kisumu counties. A total of 540
teachers and stakeholders were reached and over 500 Amani clubs established in schools.

Participants during the Sensitization of Head Teachers on Peace Cohesion and
Integration at KEMI Headquarters, Parklands, Nairobi.
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b. National Drama Festival: The Commission recognizes drama as an influential medium
for building a just and cohesive society by addressing issues such as social exclusion and negative
ethnicity and proposing appropriate remedies that promote sustainable peace. Drama therefore,
has the power to unite people and promote cohesion, healing and reconciliation. During the period
under review, the Commission was a thematic sponsor of the 56th edition of the Kenya National
Drama festivals themed “Enhancing Social Responsibility for National Development”. The
Commission engaged with students, teachers and the general public during this period and
reinforced the message of peace, cohesion and national unity. Over 35,997 people attended and
participated in the drama festivals.
c. Sensitization of Headteachers on peace, cohesion and integration:
NCIC in partnership with Kenya Education Management Institute (KEMI) conducted a sensitization
forum on peace, cohesion and integration for 80 headteachers. They were trained on cohesion
and integration particularly modalities of mainstreaming cohesion and peace initiatives in school
activities. In addition, the headteachers were sensitized on the Amani clubs guidelines.

d. Kwale Peace Torch sensitization forum:

As a result of the Training of Trainers
workshop for teachers and education stakeholders in Kwale County, many learning institutions
have established Amani clubs. The training led to the formation of Kwale Peace Clubs Association
with membership of 20 schools. The Peace clubs association conducted a peace caravan event
supported by NCIC that brought together over 500 students advancing cohesion and harmonious
existence in schools and communities of Kwale.

Students in a peace procession during the culmination of the peace
torch event in Kwale county

e. Celebrating the International Day of Peace:

The International Day for Peace
is an annual event set apart by United Nation’s Assembly observed every 21st September. This
resonates well with the goals and objectives of Amani clubs. During the period under review,
NCIC participated in the International Peace Day by sensitizing schools on the need to establish
the Peace clubs as well as promoting peace building and national unity. Thus NCIC collaborated
with the Global Peace Foundation, National Steering Committee on Peace building and Conflict
Management and the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology in celebrating the International
Day of Peace. Themed “Right of Peoples to peace,” the celebrations were marked at the State
House High school in Nairobi. Over 500 students from accross the counties participated in various
activities that included; peace walk, tree planting and performances promoting peace,cohesion and
national unity.
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f. Promoting Positive Use of Social Media: Hate speech and incitement in the social
media platforms is a concern to the Commission. The negative use of social media platforms such as
Facebook and Twitter was evident after the 2013 General Elections and the debate on Referendum.
It is believed that majority of those using these platforms are youth based in institutions of higher
learning. It is for these reasons that NCIC engaged the deans of students from colleges and
universities in Nairobi and neighbouring Counties with an aim of promoting a culture of peace and
tolerance using the social media platform among the students. The forum was held in November,
2014 bringing together 21 deans of students/representatives from colleges and universities. The
objective was to sensitize the deans of students on NCIC’s mandate; understand the negative
and positive contribution of social media especially, in communal relationships; discuss the role
of social media in influencing change and societal peace building and social change in Kenya
and deliberate on the best entry points for engaging with students. As a result, the deans of
students were able to appreciate the role of the Commission in peacebuilding, providing platform
for interaction. This has led to many universities and colleges seeking support of NCIC to conduct
sensitization forums for students and staff.
Leaders led by the NCIC Chairman addressing the press in 2015

g. Youth summit on promotion of peaceful Coexistence: The Commission in
collaboration with Global Peace Foundation conducted a Youth Summit in Kilifi County. Over 300
Students in a peace procession during the culmination of the Peace Torch
young leaders from Coast region organizations congregated
event in Kwale County to be sensitzed on peacebuilding,
cohesion and integration; and de-radicalization, economic justice and peace accountability.
Challenges of unemployment social integration were also discussed. Participants were further
sensitized on promoting good relations, harmony and peaceful co-existence between persons of
different ethnic and racial communities.

Leaders led by the NCIC Chairman addressing the press in 2015

h. Promotion of Cohesion through Media:

Due to the existing myths associating
Muslims with terrorism, the Commission in collaboration with the Nation Media Group (NMG)
aired a five week media campaign to demystify the myth as well as enlighten the public about
the Islamic religion discouraging the youth from being radicalized. A 15-minute Kiswahili
Television Programme dubbed “UONGOFU” was aired by Nation Media Group’s QTV every
Friday for five weeks in July and August 2014. Also, a 45-seconds infomercial with a short
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skit aimed at encouraging peaceful co-existence between Kenyans of different religious
backgrounds was also aired on QTV for five weeks between August and September 2014. The
themes discussed in the media programme included: Religious Tolerance and Cohesion,
Youth Radicalization and Xenophobia and what Islam says about religion and cohesion.

i. Supporting and Promoting Cultural Diversity:

During the period under review,
the Commission sponsored and participated in the 8th edition of the Marsabit – Lake Turkana
annual cultural festival held at Loiyangalani in Marsabit County. The festival sought to bring
together 14 diverse communities that reside in the County and other stakeholders to exhibit their
rich cultural traditions through attires, artefacts dances among others. The theme of the festival
was ˝Building Resilience and Growth through Cultural Heritage.” It was proposed that sports
should be used as a tool to promote peaceful coexistence, building of handcraft centers, improve
the museum and embrace diversity through intermarriages between the various ethnic groups.

Participants during the cultural festival at Mosoriot Teachers College

In addition, the Commission sponsored and participated in Mosoriot Teachers College cultural festival
in Uasin Gishu County. The theme of the festival was “nurturing a cultural environment of cohesion
and integration” During the festival the Commission also sensitized teachers, County Government
officials and the Board of Management on promotion of peaceful coexistence, cohesion and national unity.
The Commission emphasizes the need to promote and invest in the rich diversity of the Kenyan people.
This entails, facilitating the mainstreaming of cohesion and integration in the Kenyan socialization
structures such as schools, churches, mosques and counties. During the period under review, the
Commission participated in the University of Kabianga Cultural week in Kericho County. The theme of
the cultural week was “Nurturing Talents and Cultural Diversity Appreciation”. The Commission
sensitized participants on the topic ‘Utilization of Talents to Preach Peace and Leadership’.
The Cultural week brought together students and members of the community who showcased
their cultural diversity and the need to promote appreciation of cultural diversity among Kenyans.
The SAMOSA festival is a cross cultural holiday that uses various elements of culture to promote
discussions among Kenyans towards cohesion and integration. It is the only cross cultural festival
of its kind in East Africa that seeks to enhance the Asian/African/Fusion of cultures for good race
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and ethnic relations toward nationhood. The Festival uses various elements of culture i.e. music,
art, performance, theatre and discussion to generate and promote discussions among Kenyans
towards cohesion and integration. During the reporting period, the Commission partnered with the
Asian foundation and conducted a series of events for one week which enabled the Commission to
sensitize the participants on the importance of promoting culture and respecting diversity.

Rendille dancers showcasing their attires and a traditional hut during the cultural festival

j. Promoting Cohesion and Integration through Sports:

Sports is a
strategic tool to promote peace, tolerance and understanding by bringing people together a
cross boundaries, cultures and religions. The Commission underscores utilization of sports
as an effective medium to promote peaceful coexistence among communities particularly
the youth. The Commission reached out and sensitized youth in Meru and Mombasa County
through football tournaments. The theme of the tournament was “Promoting Cohesion
and Integration through Sports”. The Commission utilized this platform to sensitize the
people on ethnic tolerance and prevention of youth radicalization and extremism. The peace
tournament in Mombasa County was organized by Muslims for Human Rights (MUHURI).
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3.1.2 NCIC Capacity Building initiatives on National Values and
Cohesion Principles and Peaceful Coexistence

Commissioner Prof Gitile Naituli during the community training in Kwale. The Commission trains community
peace leaders on the role of NCIC in peacebuilding.

C

apacity building is key in ensuring excellent service delivery. Given the complex mandate and
role of NCIC, the Commission conducted several trainings targeting various groups in a bid to
increase the youth and the public’s understanding on its mandate towards achieving a peaceful,
cohesive united Kenya society.

a. Trainings for the youth: In Partnership with Active Citizens Programme, NCIC
conducted a Training of Trainers (ToT) workshop for 40 youth drawn from 47 counties. The Active
Citizens Programme (ACP) is a social leadership programme that promotes inter-cultural dialogue
and social responsibility for sustainable development. The programme has a reach of 117 countries
with Kenya being a member. The youth were trained on social cohesion, inter-cultural dialogue,
social responsibility and strategies for engaging local communities for sustainable development
A follow up training was conducted by the Commission in partnership with the British Council
and the Directorate of National Cohesion and National Values, 75 youth from Nakuru and Kisii
Counties were trained. The youth were taken through the Active Citizens Toolkit for promoting
social action towards peaceful coexistence and they further developed a roll out plan to implement
in their respective communities.
Through the Active Citizens Programe, 50 youth were selected to participate in a Community
Exchange Programe held in Sotik and Rongo Constituencies respectively. The purpose of the
exchange programme was to promote inter-community harmony and peaceful co-existence. The
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youth were drawn from the Kalenjin and Luo ethnic groups creating a platform of mutual learning
by engaging in intercultural learning and exchange activities.

b. Training for Religious Leaders: Faith Based Organizations (FBOs) play a key role
in peace and cohesion building, especially in areas that are prone to conflict or those that bore
the brunt of conflict. In view of this, a capacity building workshop for 65 religious leaders drawn
from the Pentecostal Churches was undertaken. The religious leaders were equipped with peace
building, cohesion and integration skills focusing on the role played by the church to enhance
peaceful coexistence.
c. De-Radicalization training for the Youth and Women: Militia activity remains
a threat to peace and security in Kenya. Nairobi and Coastal counties of Kilifi, Mombasa, Lamu
and Kwale have experienced an increase in violent extremism and radicalization where places of
worships, shopping centres and transport terminals were attacked using hand grenades. To counter
this menace, the Commission, conducted youth, women and interfaith leaders’ anti-radicalization
workshops in Kilifi, Kwale, and Mombasa to sensitize them on dangers of radicalization and violent
extremism. As a result, the Commission learnt that some of the youth who travelled abroad, mainly
to Somalia and trained with al Shabaab have returned home and were willing to surrender to the
government but feared for their safety. They face security threat from Kenya security and the alShabaab militants.
The Commission issued an advisory to the Government of Kenya to grant unconditional amnesty to
youth who were ready and willing to denounce violent extremism and radicalization. The advisory
was accepted and issued by the Government of Kenya. About 250 radicalized youth have so far
surrendered to the authorities since the beginning of the amnesty issued by the Interior ministry.
The youth also known as “returnees” are undergoing safe rehabilitation programe run by the
National Counter-Terrorism Centre.
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3.1.3. Peace and Mediation Forums

P

ursuant of sections 25(2) (g) provisions of the NCI Act, 2008, the Commission is responsible for
securing and enhancing ethnic and racial harmony and peace through promoting arbitration,
conciliation, mediation and similar forms of Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) mechanisms.
The ADR mechanism is also recognized in article 189 (2) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010. NCIC
uses dialogue extensively as a tool for achieving peace and reconciliation between and amongst
communities. Mediation often exists alongside dialogue efforts. During the period under review,
the following was achieved.

a. Lamu County Peace and mediation forums: The Al-Shabaab attacks in Mpeketoni, in June
2014, led to massive destruction of property and death of over 60 people. Some media reports
attributed the attacks to domestic politics rooted in ethnic and religious tensions in the country.
The Commission in partnership with stakeholders conducted several dialogue and mediation
forums targeting communities in Mpeketoni, Witu, Hindi, Faza, and Amu. The Partners involved
were National Steering Committee on Peacebuilding and Conflict Management (NSC), Kenya Red
Cross (KRC) community, political, religious and Civil Society Organizations (CSO) representatives.
These mediation to the Boma Commitment on Promotion of Peace and Cohesion in Lamu County

President Uhuru Kenyatta leaders from Lamu County, Governor Issa Timamy and Senator Abu Chiaba
when he witnessed the signing of the Boma Commitment [Courtesy PSCU]

as witnessed by His Excellency the President of Kenya, Hon Uhuru Kenyatta among other political
and religious leaders.
The Commission further facilitated a series of grassroots workshops for youth, women, community
and religious leaders to disseminate “The Boma Commitment.” This led to the establishment of
peace committees in Mpeketoni, Lamu and Hindi Divisions to further peace initiatives.
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NCIC Chair Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo engaging Mpeketoni residents during the field visit.

b. Mandera Peace and mediation forums: Mandera County had experienced recurrent conflicts
between the Garreh and Degodia clans that spilled over to Wajir county home to the people from
two clans. This came as a result of discontentment over the outcome of the March 2013 General
Election where some clans felt marginalized politically. His Excellency, the President Hon. Uhuru
Kenyatta, CGH, appointed special mediators led by Hon. Francis Ole Kaparo, EGH, Chairman
of NCIC and Hon. Senator Mohamed Yusuf Haji, EGH, Chairman of the Senate Committee on
National Security and Foreign Relations. The cessation of violence and the signing of Mandera
peace agreement between the two communities was achieved after several mediation meetings with
leaders, community members to the waring communities.

From L to R: Participants at one of the meetings. The mediation committee addressing
participants in a meeting
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c. Bungoma County Peace dialogue and Reconciliation Process

From L to R: Hon F. Kapondi signing the Abbey Resort Resolutions; Hon F. Kaparo, NCIC Chair
addressing participants

Bungoma County has had clan conflicts between the predominant Bukusus, the Tachoni and
Sabaot who are the minorities from Mt. Elgon. Nearly, 70% of the eligible voters in the County are
Bukusu while Mt. Elgon constituency is predominated by the Sabaot. This political dominance has
occasionally led to conflict. NCIC conducted several peace dialogues that brought representatives
from Mt Elgon (Sabaot) and Cheptais (Bukusus) to discuss the root causes to the perenial conflicts.
As a result, the Abbey Resort Resolution peace agreement was born leading to ceasation of conflicts
and tensions.

d. Nandi and Kakamega Counties Peace Dialogue: Ethnic conflict erupted between the Nandi
and Luhya communities residing in Kamungey location in Nandi escarpment bordering Kakamega
County. The genesis of conflict was land and boundary disputes. The Commission conducted
consultative meetings involving key stakeholders from Government, community leaders and faith
based leaders. The meeting led to cessation of hostilities and return of internally displaced persons
to their homes. The Commission further facilitated the establishment of a joint peace committee for
Nandi and Kakamega Counties to enhance peaceful coexistence along the border. The resumption
of peace led to the establishment of a joint market and rehabilitation of a road linking the two
counties.

From Left to Right: A resident of Kamunge’y location highlighting peace and security challenges
along the escarpment. Right NCIC team posing with members of the Kakamega Peace
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e. North Rift Counties Peace dialogue: Over 50 villagers were attacked and killed in May
2015 by bandits in Nadome, Turkana East. The Commission in partnership with key stakeholders
conducted peace dialogue meetings between Turkana and Baringo communities that enabled
cessation to violence and signing a peace pact. To strengthen the peace agreement, NCIC further
facilitated grassroots meetings and peace campaigns in the highly affected areas such as Loruk,
Tiaty, Baringo South, Mukutany and Baringo North sub-counties. This led to the establishment
of peace committees at locational levels. The peace process in the region was further boosted by
professional athletes from Rift Valley who organized “Walk for Peace campaign” that covered
522 miles in two weeks.

NCIC facilitating Peace dialogue.
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Top left; NCIC Chairman Francis Ole Kaparo giving an address at a Peace Barazas in Lukumkum
(Baringo South Sub County), Reverend Peter Chemaswet (NCIC facilitators’ team leader) in a red
shuka addressing a meeting at Chebungus and giving gifts to Laibons at Seretion. Bottom left; Bishop
Cornelius Korir (Diocese of Eldoret) alongside governors (Baringo County and ElgeyoMarakwet County)
and athletes taking part in the Walk for Peace Campaign last stretch held in Baringo County

3.2. Strengthening good governance and implementation of the
Constitution through emphasis on equitable access to public
resources

A

rticle 10 of the Constitution provides for the national values and principles of governance and in
ensuring their realisation particularly the values of inclusiveness, equality, non-discrimination
and protection of the marginalised, the Commission undertook the following activities.

a. Engagement with the Joint Parliamentary Committee on National Cohesion
and Equal Opportunity on inclusiveness in Public Recruitment
The Commission presented the Ethnic and Diversity Audit of Counties Report in a stakeholders’
retreat of the Parliamentary Joint Committee of National Cohesion and Equality of Opportunities in
May 2015. The purpose of the meeting was to share the County Report and provide the Committee
members with factual information to consider while developing legislation on cohesion and equal
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opportunities. In this regard, the Commission proposed to the Parliamentary Committee to provide
space for inter-county transfer of members to enhance ethnic balance at the County level; compel
the County Public Service Boards to fill vacancies progressively to satisfy the requirements of
section 65 of the County Government Act; Political leaders to provide goodwill to enable NCIC
and other institutions to address the challenges of inclusion. Consequent to this sharing, the
Parliamentary Joint Committee on Equal Opportunities and National Cohesion embarked on
drafting regulations on equality.

b. Consultative fora with County Public Service Boards on inclusive and

non-discriminatory recruitment at the county level

S

ection 65 (1) of the County Governments Act (CGA) requires CPSB not to employ more than 70%
from the dominant ethnic community in the county. At least 30% of the vacant post at entry
level are filled by candidates who are not from the dominant ethnic community in the county. This
provision within the CGA, coupled with several complaints of nepotism and ethnic discrimination
in employment at the county level, compelled the Commission to develop a handbook entitled “The
Minimum Standards and Principles for Recruitment to Ensure Inclusiveness and Diversity
at the County Level”. The main objective of the handbook is to guide Counties and the members
of the CSPB and CASB in promoting diversity during recruitment.
The guidelines highlight the legal provisions regulating employment within the County Governments
and outlines standards and principles applied universally to ensure that recruitment criteria
promote diversity and do not discriminate on the basis of ethnicity. To ensure the guidelines
are applied and adhered to, the Commission held 20 forums with the members of the CPSB to
sensitize them on its contents and application. The following counties were reached: Tana River,
Mombasa, Meru, Embu, Tharaka Nithi, Kitui, Isiolo, Makueni, Baringo, Nakuru, Narok, Siaya,
Busia, Kericho, Kisii, Kisumu, Homabay, Migori, Nyamira and Bomet. A number of challenges to
inclusivity and diversity in employment at the county level that were revealed from the engagement
with the county officials included:
•

Inherited staff from defunct local authorities - The County Government inherited staff from
local authorities with some who were irregularly recruited.

•

Nepotism/clannism - In some counties, the discrimination is based on clans where only
members of a clan who are in leadership are employed.

•

Historical Isolation/marginalization - Some people were not willing to work in certain part
of Kenya due to lack of basic social amenities and infrastructure.

•

Ethno-geographical - Certain counties are inhabited majorly by people from local communities
hence denying them employment opportunities would amount to marginalization and
discrimination. For example in Nyamira County, the Commission was informed that all Members
of the County Assembly are of Kisii ethnic community including the leader of minority. Kisii
community constitute 98% of the residents of the county. The Commission seeks to develop
programs to address these challenges in the subsequent period.
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Commissioner Dr Roba Sharamo (standing) during one of the NCIC
stakeholder engagement forums.

c. Counties familiarization Mission - Kisii, Nyamira and Migori counties
The Commission is cognisant of the fact that county governments and other authorities are critical
in responding and strategizing to prevent and /or respond to violent conflicts. In its continued
efforts to advise and engage with the governance structures, the Commission reckons that
strategic management with the county governments is key in advancing structured and progressive
reconciliation, peace-building processes and implementation of long term initiatives that support
the consolidation of peace and stability.
In February 2014, the new team of Commissioners conducted familiarization visits to: Kisii,
Nyamira and Migori where they held face to face discussions with County government officials, the
County Security Structures and other institutions. The mission exposed a myriad of issues such
as border disputes, youth unemployment and political interference that impede cohesion. The
Commission will continue to work closely with county leadership in tackling these issues with an
aim to enhance cohesion and peaceful coexistence.

30

NCIC Annual Reports for the year ended 30th June, 2015

National Cohesion and Integration Commission

Commissioner Hon Morris Dzoro present the Commissions Ethnic status report to Migori County Governor
H.E. Zakary Okoth Obado.

3.3. Promoting Research and Monitoring Status and Trends of National
Peace and Stability and Advising Relevant State Agencies
NCIC underscores promotion of research and monitoring of national peace and stability as a
pre-requisite for the achievement of a peaceful and cohesive nation. Section 25 of the NCI Act,
mandates the Commission to undertake research and studies and make recommendations to the
Government on issues relating to ethnic affairs. As such, NCIC generates new ideas to enrich the
knowledge base that supports a policy agenda geared towards the achievement of sustainable and
peaceful co-existence among Kenyans. To this end, key achievements were realised in the period
under review as outlined below:

a. Ethnic and Diversity Audit of County Governments
NCIC has increased the bar of accountability in regard to inclusivity within the county employment
through the establishment of the status of ethnic representation in the county public service. NCIC
has also instituted a framework for annual monitoring of ethnic representation. The Commission
conducted Ethnic and Diversity Audit of County Governments to establish ethnic composition of
the County Public Service between June 2014 and May 2015. The findings of the study revealed
that the three organs in the county charged with the mandate of employment i.e. the Governor,
the County Public Service Board (CPSB) and the County Assembly Service Board(CASB) have
undertaken recruitment in an inequitable manner, largely skewed towards the dominant groups
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within the various counties. 29 counties were found to have breached provision of Section 65 of the
County Government Act in the appointments made since the commencement of their operations
in 2013.
The report further revealed that 16 County Executive Committees (CEC) and 21 County Public
Service Boards were composed of one ehthnic group despite elaborate provisions for diversity in
the Constitution and the County Government Act. This is a clear indication of the disregarded role
of the Governor’s office and the County Assemblies in ensuring ethnic representation.
The study observed that the naming of certain counties may be perceived as giving some groups
an advantage in the claim of opportunities within the county. Out of eight counties whose names
belong to certain ethnic groups, seven accorded over 90% of posts to the named groups. These
include Samburu, Turkana, Kisii, Nandi, Meru, Tharaka Nithi, Taita Taveta, West Pokot, Kisii
County for example has 97.5% Kisii in the service.
Most counties alluded to the fact that even within the dominant group the question of majority and
minority exists. Communities such as Gosha, Gabbra, Orma and Suba among others were highly
under represented yet others such as the Dasenach Shangil, Galjeel and Konso were completely
excluded from accessing employment opportunities within the counties.
The report recommended strategies that would enable the Counties to adhere to the existing
legal frameworks including the need to: harmonize salaries by the Salaries and Remuneration
Commission across counties to enable transfers; generate schemes of service for the positions in
the County Public Service by Counties; CPSB to undertake annual ethnic and diversity audits of
the county public service; and to develop a County Minority Register (CMR) of the minority and
marginalized communities with the aim of tracking progressive attainment of inclusion and fair
representation in county public service.
To facilitate compliance and enforcement of the recommendations above, the Commission will
engage different employment organs at County level to enhance equitable distribution of public
employment, thereby minimizing feelings of exclusion, and marginalization.

b). Dissemination and Advocacy of Social Cohesion Status in Kenya
Report
The Social Cohesion Index study, 2013 as it is commonly known revealed that certain inequalities
have persisted over time, despite existence of policies invoking remedial measures. The study
recommended that the social cohesion index be considered as an indicator in the allocation of
funds to the Counties. In the period under review, NCIC facilitated the implementation of study
recommendations by engaging stakeholders such as the universities, counties and the Commission
for Revenue Allocation (CRA).
In November 2014, the Commission held a workshop with institutions of higher learning and
presented the findings of social cohesion index study. The stakeholders learnt that the Country’s
Social Index stood at 56.4%; Mandera County’s Social Index at 21% and Kiambu County’s at 66%
being the highest. It was recommended that learning institutions should invest in researching
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phenomena that affect national unity and Universities to introduce a common course on national
values, cohesion and peace. NCIC further engaged the CRA and presented the Social Cohesion
Index as one of the potential yardsticks in allocating county resources. CRA promised to consider
use of social cohesion index as one of the parameters in the allocation of the equalization fund.
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3.4. Facilitating Laws, Policies and Practices that Counter Ethnic,
Racial and Religious Tensions.

D

ifferent pieces of legislation in the county have been passed in an effort to ensure that the
country remains cohesive. During the period under review, the Commission undertook, the
following activities in an effort to ensure the implementation of these pieces of legislation.

.

3.4.1.Framework and Checklist for Monitoring and Reviewing of
Legislation

During the year under review, the Commission developed a handbook titled “Framework and
Checklist for Incorporating National Cohesion and Integration Principles into Kenya’s Laws and
Policies”. The objective of the handbook is to guide the review of laws and policies with the aim
of infusing principles that give effect to non-discrimination and equality, in conformity with the
Constitution and the NCI Act. It is anticipated that the Framework will also be used by practitioners
in governments and academic institutions, development and civil society agencies.
Currently, the Commission is applying the tool in reviewing of laws that were enacted prior to the
enactment of NCI Act, 2008 and the Kenyan Constitution 2010.

3.4.2. Review of the NCI Act, 2008

34

NCIC Annual Reports for the year ended 30th June, 2015

National Cohesion and Integration Commission

The NCI Act 2008, was not preceded by a policy as is the common practice due to the prevailing
circumstances at the time of its negotiation and subsequent enactment. Proposed circumstances
have since changed and the country has a National Cohesion Policy. The NCI Act was reviewed to
align it to the policy and current realities in the promotion of national cohesion and integration as
well as aligning it to the Constitution 2010. The review involved calling for public representations
on the issues to be considered and meeting various stakeholders to collect their views for an
all-inclusive process. The Commission has developed a draft Bill that is currently awaiting
parliamentary debate and enactment.

3.4.3. Cohesion and Integration principles infused in National Police
Service (NPS) Recruitment
Police recruitment has been constantly marred with allegations of ethnic discrimination and
nepotism. NCIC led a process of inclusion of cohesion and integration principles in National Police
Service Commission (NPSC) Recruitment and Appointment Regulations,2015. The regulations
provide for the following;
i.

National ethnic ratio based on the latest population census results by the Kenya National
Bureau of Statistics and NCIC,

ii. Ethnic composition of the service prior to the subject recruitment, and
iii. The need for inclusion of marginalized groups and communities.
This has enhanced compliance of ethnic diversity of Kenyans with the marginalized and minorities
groups accorded opportunity to serve in National Police Service.

3.4.4.Case Digest Handbook Developed on Hate Speech and Ethnic
Discrimination Cases
To enhance the knowledge base for actors on cohesion and integration, the Commission developed
a handbook on Hate Speech and Ethnic Discrimination Cases. The handbook combines and
compares local and international jurisprudence on decided cases of hate speech crime, ethnic
discrimination cases and related “good practices” to increase understanding and interpretation
of laws relating to hate speech and ethnic discrimination offences. The digest contains array of
useful jurisprudence developed over time by courts of comparable national jurisdictions as well
as appropriate international courts and tribunals. This is intended to benefit the law enforcement
agencies, investigators, prosecutors, defence lawyers and judicial officers when interpreting the
laws on hate speech and ethnic discrimination offences.

3.4.5. Integrated Public Complaints Referral Mechanism (IPCRM)
The Integrated Public Complaints and Referral Mechanism (IPCRM) is an initiative of five agencies.
The objective of this initiative is to strengthen partnerships between the state oversight institutions
in handling, managing and disposing received complaints/reports as well as feeding back to
the members of the public lodging complaints. These agencies are: Ethics and Anti-Corruption
Commission (EACC), Kenya National Commission on Human Rights (KNCHR), National Cohesion
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and Integration Commission (NCIC), National Anti-Corruption Campaign Steering Committee
(NACCSC), Commission on Administrative Justice (CAJ) and Transparency International (TI). The
initiative is charged with the responsibility of receiving complaints from partner agencies and
referring it through an online system to the relevant agencies for action.
The initiative has further led to efficient and effective access of services at devolved levels by
establishing one-stop complaints and referral centers that has enhanced access, especially in
rural/remote areas to public complaints procedures established to address hate speech and ethnic
discrimination.

3.4.6. Complaints Handled and Processed by NCIC
The Commission is mandated to receive and investigate complaint of ethnic or racial discrimination,
hate speech and ethnic contempt and make recommendations to other relevant authorities on
the remedial measures to be taken where such complaints are valid. The Commission may also
investigate on its own accord or on request from any institution, office, or person any issue
affecting ethnic and racial relations. In the period under review NCIC received and processed 252
complaints categorized as follows;

Categorization of complaints
No.

Nature

1

Hate speech

2

Ethnic/racial contempt

5

3

Ethnic discrimination

39

4

Outside mandate

TOTAL
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The complaints were processed as follows;
No.

Action taken

Number

1.

Complaints taken for investigations

118

2.

Complaints referred to relevant agencies

102

3.

Complaints lacking in substance

10

4.

Complaints closed

22

Total

252

3.4.7. Police training on offences under the National Cohesion and
Integration Act
The establishment and enforcement of the NCI Act created offences that are relatively new both
globally and nationally thus not included in the training program for Police officers. This created
the need for the Commission to roll out police training program to ensure uniformity of content,
approaches and methodologies. The Commission partnered with the National Police Service and
conducted eight trainings for 300 police officers. They were trained on offences under the NCI act,
definition of hate speech, Investigating Hate Speech; collecting and collating evidence to make a
case; and maximizing on legal mechanisms.

3.5

Organizational Growth and Development

NCIC’s efficiency and effectiveness depends on the quality of its employees. To further enhance its
capacity to deliver, the Commission focused on engaging competent and motivated staff. It has been
the policy of NCIC therefore, to attract, recruit and retain qualified personnel in terms of academic
and professional qualifications. During the period under review, the Commission prioritized and
implemented the following in the promotion of organizational growth and development.
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a. Personnel Recruitment and Training

T

o enhance the human resource capacity of the Commission two(2) officers,(a Programme Officer
and an Office Assistant) were recruited during the period. Further, the table below presents the
data of staff trained, areas of training specialization during the year under review.

Course Title

Training Institution

Officers Trained

Records Management Course

Kenya School of Government

2

Senior Management Course

Kenya School of Government

4

Workshop on Procurement
Planning

Kenya Institute of Supplies Management

1

Executive Secretarial Management Training

Kenya School of Government

1

Crime and Violence Prevention

Kenya School of Government

1

30th Annual ICPAK Seminar

ICPAK

2

Conference on the role of Legislature in
promoting Good Governance

CPS Kenya

1

Leadership Good Governance and Financial
Management in the Public Sector

ESAMI- East and South Africa Management Institute

1

Public Relations and Customer Care Course

Kenya School of Government

1

Secretarial Management Training

Kenya School of Government

1

Forum on the Role of religious leaders in
preventing incitement that could lead to
atrocity crimes.

United Nations Office on Genocide Prevention & partners.

1

30th Annual Seminar

ICPAK

2

Legislative Drafting

Sir William Dale Centre for Legislative studies of the
Institute of advanced legal studies.

1

United Kingdom
Best Practices for Personal Assistants
Good Corporate Governance
Best Practices for Personal Assistants

Centre for Corporate Governance.

1
1

PAN African – Institute of Management and Governance
Limited
Federation of Kenya Employers

1

PPOA Training Seminar on Public Procurement

Public Procurement Oversight Authority ( PPOA)

12

Performance management and Appraisal

In-House training

40

Managing Employment Contracts and Staff
Separation

38

PAN African – Institute of Management and Governance
Limited
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b. Enhancement of Performance Contracting

T

he period that ended saw the introduction of performance management at the Commission. 48
NCIC staff were oriented on performance contracting leading to each signing their performance
contract. In view of this, it is envisaged that performance management and appraisal is expected
to improve productivity, high performance culture and reinforcement of values and principles of
public service.

c. Development of NCIC new Strategic Plan June 2015-July 2020

B

orrowing from the challenges and lessons gathered from the past five years while implementing
the Strategic Plan of July 2010-2013, the Commission developed a new Strategic Plan for June
2015-July 2020 and a Strategic Direction paper 2014/2015. This experience provided ground for
new strategic thinking, more relevant to the expectations of the Constitution as well as the new
governance structure, as is espoused in the new Strategic Plan 2015-2020. In its new strategic
direction, the Commission sought to develop and sustain processes that would alleviate all forms
of ethnic discrimination and promote diversity through knowledge creation, capacity building,
advocacy and pertinent policy development in order to achieve a peaceful, united, harmonious and
integrated Kenyan society.

d. Commissioners and staff experiential learning

T

he Commission built the capacity of its newly formed policy team by exposing it to societies
grappling with peace solutions after protracted violent conflicts. Following the appointment
of new commissioners in August 2014, the Commission conducted an exposure visit to Rwanda
with the aim of understanding the social dynamics that cause societies to move to the brink
of extinction and the necessary actions that restore post-conflict relationships between different
communities. Further, the mission conducted in December 2014 sought to enhance learning and
sharing of experiences with governmental and non-governmental institutions of like mandates
in Rwanda; explored the means used by institutions in Rwanda to facilitate the attainment of
national unity and reconciliation; and establishing networks, partnerships and collaborations with
a view to maintain exchanges for future learning.
Besides the exposure on strategies for genocide prevention, various lessons were drawn such as
the need to balance the demands of justice in the quest to achieve reconciliation; the resilience and
determination of Rwandans to make a head way after horrific genocide; the significance of political
will and leadership commitment to capacity building for peace and the need to uphold education
and popular participation in debates of national interests to empower conflict transformation. Of
importance, was the need to develop a centre for cultural training incorporating national values
and cohesion principles by the Commission. The visit was hosted by Never Again Rwanda, an
organization that took on the responsibility of addressing the division that existed between young
Rwandese after the Genocide. The Commission is working on establishing means of cultivating
national cohesion ideals among youth by learning from the Rwandese ‘Itorero’ model.
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Commissioners and staff pose for a group photo during their exposure visit to Rwanda
in December 2014

NCIC Commissioners analyzing the library at the Millennium School

40
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SECTION FOUR: Challenges and Recommendations

T

he Commission realized significant achievements during the period under review. On the same
note, the Commission experienced some key challenges that impacts on its work and which,
needs to be addressed to enable greater impact. The Commission equally learnt a few lessons and
best practices that will inform future overall performance.

4.1 Challenges
The public expectation is huge despite the weaknesses in the NCI Act, such as prosecution of
all cases related to hate speech.
The Commission receives limited funding that inhibits the attainment of its full potential for
programme intervention.
The devolved system of governance has ignited boundary disputes over distribution of resources
along the borders.
There is overwhelming demand for sensitization, training and outreach programmes on cohesion
and integration from intitutions and the public. The current NCIC available resources cannot
meet this need in terms of its staffing and funding levels.
NCIC has identified gaps in the NCI Act that needs to be adressed in order to align it with the
Constitution.
NCIC has been faced with unwillingness of some witnesses to testify in ethnic contempt and
hate speech cases.
The offences of hate speech and ethnic contempt are now being propagated in cyber space and
especially on social media platforms. Individuals use pseudonyms as well as propagate the
offense outside the Kenyan jurisdiction challenging the investigation and prosecution of the
offense.
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4.2 Lessons Learnt

T

he Commission has learnt the importance of establishing strategic partnerships and networks
whose synergy helps generate technical and financial resources.

There is need to revise the current NCI Act 2008 and align it with the provisions of the Constitution
and the Policy on National Cohesion. This will strengthen the legal mechanisms to operationalize
the process of making national cohesion and integration into the day-to-day practice of the public
service.
There is need to build sustainable linkages and synergy between the National and County level
actors in the peace building sector to facilitate a coordinated approach in reaching out to institutions
and the public.
Peace and reconciliation processes are not isolated events but rather continuous processes
requiring constant engagement with stakeholders which call for adequate human and financial
resources.
The lack of credible authoritative data and information in the past led to the failure to review
and amend policies and practices that institutionalize ethnicity and affect social cohesion. The
Commission increasingly providing upto date data to enhance cohesion.

4.3 Recommendations
There is need for Government to consider an increament in budgetary allocations to enable the
Commission achieve its mandate.
Strengthen the Commission’s human resource capacity, devolve its services to the regions, upgrade
its physical facilities, and strengthen its communication and knowledge management.
There is need to work with the Judiciary to implement use of alternative dispute resolution
mechanisms.
Representation of the diverse Kenyan communities in employment within the public service is an
obligation reiterated in several legislations. It is therefore imperative for counties to observe these
laws. The Commission will continue engaging in counties and other public institutions to enhance
compliance with this legislation.
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SECTION FIVE: Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30th June 2015

National Cohesion and Integration Commission
Financial Statements
For the Year Ended
30th June 2015
Prepared in accordance with the Accrual Basis of Accounting Method under the
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)
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5.1: FINANCIAL REPORT AND STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 30TH JUNE 2015
REPORT OF THE COMMISSION

T

he Commissioners submitted their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2015 which show the state of the Commission’s affairs.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Commission are to facilitate and promote equality of opportunity,
good relations, harmony and peaceful co-existence between persons of different ethnic and racial
communities of Kenya and to advise the Government on all aspects thereof .

Results
The results of the Commission for the year ended June 30, 2015 are set out on page 1

Commissioners
The Commissioners who served during the year are shown on page 18,19 and 20.

Auditors
The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of the Commission in accordance with
the Section 68 of the Public Finance Management (PFM) Act, 2013, which empowers the Auditor
General to nominate other auditors to carry out the audit on his behalf.

By Order of the Commission

___________________________________
Hassan Sheikh Mohamed, OGW
Secretary/Chief Executive Officer
28 / ____
01 / 2016
_____
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5.2: STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONERS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

S

ection 81 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2013 and section 14 of the State Corporations
Act, require the Commissioners to prepare financial statements in respect of that Commission,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Commission at the end of the financial
year/period and the operating results of the Commission for that year/period. The Commissioners
are also required to ensure that the Commission keeps proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Commission. The Commissioners are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Commission.

The Commissioners are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Commission’s
financial statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Commission
for and as at the end of the financial year (period) ended on June 30, 2014. This responsibility
includes: (i) maintaining adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these
continue to be effective throughout the reporting period; (ii) maintaining proper accounting records,
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Commission;
(iii) designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements, and ensuring that they are free from material
misstatements, whether due to error or fraud; (iv) safeguarding the assets of the Commission; (v)
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and (vi) making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Commissioners accept responsibility for the Commission’s financial statements, which have
been prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
and in the manner required by the PFM Act and the State Corporations Act. The Commissioners
are of the opinion that the Commission’s financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of Commission’s transactions during the financial year ended June 30, 2015, and of
the Commission’s financial position as at that date. The Commissioners further confirm the
completeness of the accounting records maintained for the Commission, which have been relied
upon in the preparation of the Commission’s financial statements as well as the adequacy of the
systems of internal financial control.
Nothing has come to the attention of the Commissioners to indicate that the Commission will not
remain a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.
Approval of the financial statements.

The Commission’s financial statements were approved by the Commission on 28th January 2016
and signed on its behalf by:

Francis K.F.X. Ole Kaparo, EGH, SS (Hon) ...............................
Chairperson
Hassan Mohamed OGW.....................................................................
Commission Secretary
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5.3: REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON THE NATIONAL
COHESION AND INTEGRATION COMMISSION

W

e have audited the accompanying (consolidated) financial statements of National Cohesion
and Integration Commission for the year ended June 30, 2015, which comprise: (i) a statement
of financial performance; (ii) a statement of financial position; (iii) a statement of changes in net
assets; (iv) a statement of cash flows; (v) a statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts
and (v) a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements
The Commission’s Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and
for such internal control as the management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Commission as at June 30, 2015, and its financial performance as well
as cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards.

FCPA, Edward R. O. Ouko, CBS
AUDITOR-GENERAL
NAIROBI
…./..../2016
01 03/
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Statement of Financial Performance as at 30th June 2015
5.4
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Statement of Financial Performance as at 30th June 2015
5.5

28/ 01 / 2016

NCIC Annual Reports for the year ended 30th June, 2015

49

National Cohesion and Integration Commission

Statement of changes in Net Assets For the year ended 30th June 2015
5.6
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30th June 2015
5.7
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5.9: Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation – IPSAS 1
The Commission’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The financial statements are presented in
Kenya shillings, which is the functional and reporting currency of the Commission and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (Ksh000). The accounting policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented.
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, unless stated otherwise.
The cash flow statement is prepared using the direct method. The financial statements are prepared
on accrual basis.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Revenue recognition
i)

Revenue from non-exchange transactions – IPSAS 23

Fees, taxes and fines
The Commission recognizes revenues from fees, taxes and fines when the event occurs and the
asset recognition criteria are met. To the extent that there is a related condition attached that
would give rise to a liability to repay the amount, deferred income is recognized instead of revenue.
Other non-exchange revenues are recognized when it is probable that the future economic benefits
or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the Commission and the fair value of the
asset can be measured reliably.
Transfers from other government entities Revenues from non-exchange transactions with other
government entities are measured at fair value and recognized on obtaining control of the asset
(cash, goods, services and property) if the transfer is free from conditions and it is probable that
the economic benefits or service potential related to the asset will flow to the Commission and can
be measured reliably.

ii)

Revenue from exchange transactions – IPSAS 9

Rendering of services
The Commission recognizes revenue from rendering of services by reference to the stage of
completion when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. The stage of completion
is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated labour
hours. Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognized only to the
extent that the expenses incurred are recoverable.
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Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods and when the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the Commission.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued using the effective yield method. The effective yield discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount. The method applies this yield to the principal outstanding to determine interest income
each period.

Dividends
Dividends or similar distributions must be recognized when the shareholder’s or the Commission’s
right to receive payments is established.

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straightline basis over the lease terms and included in revenue.

b) Budget information – IPSAS 24
The annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis, that is, all planned costs and income are
presented in a single statement to determine the needs of the Commission. As a result of the
adoption of the accrual basis for budgeting purposes, there are no basis, timing or Commission
differences that would require reconciliation between the actual comparable amounts and the
amounts presented as a separate additional financial statement in the statement of comparison of
budget and actual amounts.

c) Taxes – IAS 12
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting
date in the area where the Commission operates and generates taxable income. Current income
tax relating to items recognized directly in net assets is recognized in net assets and not in the
statement of financial performance. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate.
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Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting
date. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except in respect
of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in controlled entities, associates and
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized,
except in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in controlled
entities, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed
at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside surplus or deficit is recognized outside surplus or
deficit. Deferred tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction in net assets.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable Commission and the same taxation authority.

Sales tax
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax, except:
When the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or apart of the expense item, as applicable
When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of sales tax included
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
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d) Investment property – IPSAS 16
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying
amount includes the replacement cost of components of an existing investment property at the
time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day
maintenance of an investment property. Investment property acquired through a non-exchange
transaction is measured at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured using the cost model and are depreciated over a 30-year
period.
Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service
potential is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the surplus or deficit in the period of de-recognition.
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use.

e) Property, plant and equipment – IPSAS 17
All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. When
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Commission recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the
carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred.
Where an asset is acquired in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal consideration the
asset is initially measured at its fair value.

f) Leases – IPSAS 13
Finance leases are leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item to the Commission. Assets held under a finance lease are capitalized
at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present
value of the future minimum lease payments. The Commission also recognizes the associated lease
liability at the inception of the lease. The liability recognized is measured as the present value of
the future minimum lease payments at initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability. Finance charges are recognized as finance costs in surplus or deficit.
An asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there
is no reasonable certainty that the Commission will obtain ownership of the asset by the end of the
lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the lease term.
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental
to ownership of the leased item to the Commission. Operating lease payments are recognized as an
operating expense in surplus or deficit one straight-line basis over the lease term.

56

NCIC Annual Reports for the year ended 30th June, 2015

National Cohesion and Integration Commission

g) Intangible assets–IPSAS 31
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a non-exchange transaction is their fair value at the date of the exchange. Following
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized
development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in surplus or deficit in the
period in which the expenditure is incurred.
The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed as either finite or indefinite.

i)

Research and development costs

The Commission expenses research costs as incurred. Development costs on an individual project
are recognized as intangible assets when the Commission can demonstrate:
The technical feasibility of completing the asset so that the asset will be available for use or
sale.
Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset.
How the asset will generate future economic benefits or service potential.
The availability of resources to complete the asset.
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.
Following initial recognition of an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when development is
complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future
benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually with any
impairment losses recognized immediately in surplus or deficit.

h) Financial instruments – IPSAS 29
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, loans and receivables, heldto maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Commission
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
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fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Losses arising from impairment
are recognized in the surplus or deficit.

Held-to-maturity
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are
classified as held to maturity when the Commission has the positive intention and ability to hold
it to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The losses arising from impairment are recognized in surplus or deficit.

Impairment of financial assets
The Commission assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Commission of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a Commission of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss
event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or the Commission of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include the following indicators:
The debtors or a Commission of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty.
Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.
The probability that debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.
Observable data indicates a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows (e.g. changes
in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults)

ii)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IPSAS 29 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through surplus or deficit or loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The Commission determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. All financial liabilities are recognized
initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction
costs.

Loans and borrowing
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in surplus
or deficit when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest method
amortization process. IPSAS 29.65 Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
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i) Inventories – IPSAS 12
Inventory is measured at cost upon initial recognition. To the extent that inventory was received
through non-exchange transactions (for no cost or for a nominal cost), the cost of the inventory
is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and conditions are accounted for, as follows:
Raw materials: purchase cost using the weighted average cost method.
Finished goods and work in progress: cost of direct materials and labor and a proportion of
manufacturing overheads based on the normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing
costs.
After initial recognition, inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
However, to the extent that a class of inventory is distributed or deployed at no charge or for a
nominal charge, that class of inventory is measured at the lower of cost and current replacement
cost.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operations, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange, or
distribution. Inventories are recognized as an expense when deployed for utilization or consumption
in the ordinary course of operations of the Commission.

j) Provisions – IPSAS 19
Provisions are recognized when the Commission has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
or service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation.
Where the Commission expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is represented in the
statement of financial performance net of any reimbursement.

Contingent liabilities
The Commission does not recognize a contingent liability, but discloses details of any contingencies
in the notes to the financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential is remote.

Contingent assets
The Commission does not recognize a contingent asset, but discloses details of a possible asset
whose existence is contingent on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Commission in the notes to the financial statements.
Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are appropriately reflected
in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits or
service potential will arise and the asset’s value can be measured reliably, the asset and the related
revenue are recognized in the financial statements of the period in which the change occurs.
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k) Nature and purpose of reserves
The Commission creates and maintains reserves in terms of specific requirements. Commission to
state the reserves maintained and appropriate policies adopted.

l) Changes in accounting policies and estimates – IPSAS 3
The Commission recognizes the effects of changes in accounting policy retrospectively. The effects
of changes in accounting policy are applied prospectively if retrospective application is impractical.

m) Employee benefits – IPSAS 25
Retirement benefit plans
The Commission provides retirement benefits for its employees and councillors. Defined contribution
plans are post employment benefit plans under which an Commission pays fixed contributions into
a separate Commission (a fund), and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions to fund obligations for the
payment of retirement benefits are charged against income in the year in which they become
payables Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined-contribution
plans. The defined benefit funds are actuarially valued tri-annually on the projected unit credit
method basis. Deficits identified are recovered through lump sum payments or increased future
contributions on proportional basis to all participating employers. The contributions and lump
sum payments reduce the post-employment benefit obligation.

n) Foreign currency transactions – IPSAS 4
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially accounted for at the ruling rate of exchange on the
date of the transaction. Trade creditors or debtors denominated in foreign currency are reported
at the statement of financial position reporting date by applying the exchange rate on that date.
Exchange differences arising from the settlement of creditors, or from the reporting of creditors at
rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the period, are recognized as
income or expenses in the period in which they arise.

o) Borrowing costs – IPSAS 5
Borrowing costs are capitalized against qualifying assets as part of property, plant and equipment.
Such borrowing costs are capitalized over the period during which the asset is being acquired or
constructed and borrowings have been incurred. Capitalization ceases when construction of the
asset is complete. Further borrowing costs are charged to the statement of financial performance.

p) Related parties – IPSAS 20
The Commission regards a related party as a person or a Commission with the ability to exert
control individually or jointly, or to exercise significant influence over the Commission, or vice
versa. Members of key management are regarded as related parties and comprise the councilors,
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the executive mayor, mayoral committee members, the city manager, deputy city manager and
senior managers.

q) Service concession arrangements – IPSAS 32
The Commission analyses all aspects of service concession arrangements that it enters into in
determining the appropriate accounting treatment and disclosure requirements. In particular,
where a private party contributes an asset to the arrangement, the Commission recognizes that
asset when, and only when, it controls or regulate the services the operator must provide together
with the assets, to whom it must provide them, and what price. In the case of assets other than
“whole –of-life assets, it controls through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise-any
significant residual interest in the asset at the end of the arrangement. Any assets so recognized
are measured at their value. To the extent that an asset has been recognized, the Commission also
recognizes corresponding liability, adjusted by cash consideration paid or received.

r) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, short-term deposits on call
and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Bank account balances include amounts held at Central Bank of Kenya and at various commercial
banks at the end of the financial year. For the purposes of these financial statement, cash and
cash equivalents also include short term cash imprests and advances to authorized public officers
and/or institutions which were not surrendered or accounted for at the end of the financial year.

s) Comparative figures
Where necessary comparative figures for the previous financial year have been amended or
reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.

t) Significant judgements and source of estimation uncertainty-IPSAS 1
The preparation of the Commission’s financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end
of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that requires a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability
affected in future periods.
State all judgements estimates and assumptions made: e;g

Estimates and Assumption
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sourcesd of estimation uncertainity
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
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carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The
Commission based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolodited
fianancila statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances artisingf beyond the
control of the Commission. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
IPSAS 1.140.

Useful lives and residual values
The useful lives and residual values assets are assessed using the following indicators to inform
potential future use and value from disposal:
The condition of the assest based onn the assessment of experts employed by the Commission
The nature of the asset, its suspectibility and adaptabiloity to changes in technology and
processes
The nature of the processes in which the asset is deployed
Availability funding to replace the asset
Changes in the market in relations to the assest

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management determined bans estimate based on the information
available. Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in Note 36.
Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the obligation at the reporting date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.
Assumptions were used in determining the provision for rehabilitation of landfill sites. Landfill
areas are rehabilitated over years and the assumption was made that the areas stay the same in
size for a number of years.
Provision is made for the estimated cost to be incurred on the long-term environmental obligations,
comprising expenditure on pollution control and closure over the estimated life of the landfill. The
provision is based on the advice and judgement of qualified engineers.
The estimates are discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money.
The increase in the rehabilitation provision due to passage of time is recognized as finance cost in
the statement of financial performance.
The cost of ongoing programs to prevent and control pollution and rehabilitate the environment is
recognized as an expense when incurred.

u) Subsequent events-IPSAS 14
There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end with a significant impact on the
financial statements for the year ended June 30,2015.
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4. Public contributions and donations

SIDA
UNDP-Uwiano8
Total transfers and sponsorships

2015
Shs 000
76,372
,000
84,372

6. Transfers from other governments – gifts and services-in-kind
2015
Shs 000
Unconditional grants
364,120
Operational grant
Total government grants and subsidies
364,120

2014
Shs 000
51,131
51,131

2014
Shs 000
174,960
174,960

12. Other income
2015
Shs 000
Other income
Total other income

842
842

2014
Shs 000
5,715
5,715

14. Employee costs

Employee related costs - salaries and wages
Employee related costs - contributions to
pensions and medical aids
Employee costs

2015
Shs 000
87,875

2014
Shs 000
81,729

22,065

22,331

109,940

104,060.00

2015
Shs 000
34,116
93
34,209

2014
Shs 000
23,333

2015
Shs 000
3
5,962
2,404
7,366
6

2014
Shs 000
,759.00
,335.00
,094.00

16. Depreciation and amortization expense

Property, plant and equipment
Inangible assets
Total depreciation and amortization

23,333

17. Repairs and maintenance

Vehicles
Other1
Total repairs and maintenance
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20. General expenses
The following are included in general expenses:
2015
Shs 000
11,775
1,044
23,325
8,337

Advertising
Admin fees
Audit fees
Conferences and delegations
Electricity
Fuel and oil
InsurancePostage
Printing and stationery
Hire charges
Rental
Telecommunication
Training
Other
Total general expenses

2014
Shs 000
9,398
1,044
2,086
4,412
2,774
263
3,732
3,337
22,303
4,544
1,573
120,543
176,009

257
8,473
14,095
23,121
1,613
3,259
99,124
194,423

22. Loss on disposal of assets
2015
Shs 000
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Total gain on sale of assets

290
290

26. Detailed analysis of the cash and cash equivalents
(a) Banks
Bank Account
Number
Name of the Bank
Currency

Kenya Commercial Bank
National Bank of Kenya
Standard Charted Bank

11189199238
KES(
0102815036400 KES
01020060864600 KES8

(b) Cash on hand and in transit
Form of cash holding
Liquid cash
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2014
Shs 000
3,116
3,116
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2015
Shs 000
9,582)
398
3
(9,100)

2014
Shs 000
11,351
111
202
11,664

2015
Shs 000

2014
Shs 000

229
229

646
646
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28. Receivables from non-exchange contracts
Current receivables

2015
Shs 000
100,418
100,418

Other debtors (non-exchange transactions)
Total current receivables

2014
Shs 000
11,975
11,975

31. Property, plant and equipment

Cost or Valuation:
As at 1st July, 2013
Additions during the year
Disposal(
As at 30th June 2014
Additions during the year
As at 30th June 2015
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 July 2013
Depreciation
DisposalAt 30 June 2014
Depreciation
Disposals
At 30 June 2015
Net book values
At 30 June 2015
At 30 June 2014

Computers &
Furniture &
Printers
Fittings Motor Vehicles
Shs 000
Shs 000
Shs 000
13,019
63,333
92,957
841
11,308
9,710)
13,860
74,641
83,247
6,240
4
,277
56,993.00
(336)
(
(449)
19,764
78,469
140,240

Total
Shs 000
169,309
12,149
(9,710)
171,748
67,510
785)
238,474

6,928
2,308
7
9,236
3,618
7
(276)
(
12,578

12,519
,765
(
20,284
,329
-219)
27,394

39,918
13,260
5,614)
47,564
23,169
(
70,733

59,365
23,333
(5,614)
77,085
34,116
495)
110,706

7,186
4,624

51,075
54,357

69,507
35,682

127,768
94,663
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32. Intangible assets - software
Cost
At 1 July 2013
Additions
At 30 June 2014
Additions – internal development
At 30 June 2015
Amortization and impairment
At 1 July 2013
Amortization
At 30 June 2014
Amortization
At 30 June 2015
Net book values
At 30 June 2015
At 30 June 2014

Shs
000
278
278
(93)
(93)
186
-

34. Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables
Total trade and other payables

2015
Kshs 000
1,371
3
1,371
3

2014
Kshs 000
,843
,843

15. Cash generated from operations

Surplus for the year before tax
Adjusted for:
Depreciation
(Gains) and losses on disposal of assets
Working capital adjustments:
Increase in receivables
Increase in deferred income
Increase in payables
Net cash flows from operating activities
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2015
Shs 000
103,106
(

2014
Shs 000
80,806.00)

34,209
290
3

23,333.00
,116.00

88,443

51,908.00

1,371
(
227,419
(

7,318.00)
9,767.00)
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5.10

Indicate the status “solved or not resolved” by the date of submitting this report to National Treasury.

28/ 01 / 2016
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